A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Julie Rogers, respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of 

the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. See Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Julie Rogers, seeks review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision entered on August 18, 2015, by which the court reversed the trial 

court's order vacating a dissolution decree and granting a new trial. A 

copy of this decision is attached. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where the burden of proof in the trial court is clear and 

convincing, does an appellate court review a trial court's factual findings 

for substantial evidence, or for "highly probable substantial evidence"? 

2. Using the "highly probable substantial evidence" test, did 

the appellate court here usurp the trial court's role as fact-finder? 

3. When a court evaluates the conduct of spouses in litigation, 

must it consider the fiduciary duty the spouses owe to one another? 

4. Where a discovery violation is revealed post-judgment, and 

a trial court grants a new trial on that basis, is that decision reviewed for 

"clear error" or "highly probable substantial evidence"? 

5. Where a party contributes to the malfeasance of his 

attorney in the handling of trust monies, may the party be held to account? 



6. Where a spouse indisputably misrepresented and 

misconducted himself during marital dissolution proceedings, violating 

court orders and his fiduciary duty, does it make sense to relieve him of all 

consequences, or does that contravene public policy and encourage 

divorcing spouses to behave in "take no prisoners" litigation? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

Rogers and Schneiderman were married for 19 years. During the 

marriage, Rogers performed the family domestic labor, including the 

primary care of the parties' two children, and Schneiderman grew a 

lucrative medical practice and related businesses. 

The parties' marriage ended by decree entered after a trial to a 

referee, concluding protracted litigation over financial issues, including 

Schneiderman's income, which had exceeded $1 million annually 

preceding separation. Schneiderman claimed his 2010 income was 

sharply lower and would continue to be. The referee essentially adopted 

Schneiderman's prediction of income in the $600,000 range, relying on 

the 20 I 0 figures. As Rogers later proved, Schneiderman, who controls 

when and how much to pay himself, manipulated his 2010 income and 

misrepresented his 2011 income during trial in July 2011. 

The trial court later vacated the decree on the basis that 

Schneiderman "made deliberate, false representations of a material fact 
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(i.e., his income), which he knew to be false, with the intent of misleading 

[Rogers] and the Referee as to his actual income." CP 870. The trial 

court found Rogers had proved Schneiderman's misrepresentation and 

other misconduct by clear and convincing evidence. Id. The court 

detailed this evidence in eight pages of findings. CP 869-876. The court 

also found Schneiderman committed "egregious and systemic discovery 

violations," which also justified vacating the decree, as did 

Schneiderman's misconduct in regard to funds he was ordered to place in 

trust pending trial. CP 873-875, 875-877. 

Schneiderman appealed and Division Two, reviewing the trial 

court's findings for "highly probable" substantial evidence, reversed. The 

appellate court did not disagree that Schneiderman misrepresented his 

income in his dissolution proceeding, or that he violated discovery orders 

and rules, or that his conduct was intransigent, or that he failed to comply 

with the court's orders regarding placement of funds into trust. Rather, the 

court disagreed with the trial judge that this was persuasive enough 

evidence to justify vacation of the decree. 

For example, the trial judge found persuasive a spreadsheet 

prepared by Schneiderman's CPA that showed his 20 II income to be 

"three times the income to which he testified and nearly twice the income 

the referee ultimately determined." CP 871. Schneiderman's CPA sent 
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Rogers the spreadsheet in 2012, post-decree, with a demand that she pay 

tax on the income earned through July 2011, the month of trial. The trial 

judge found the spreadsheet corroborated by a Medicare reimbursement 

report and Schneiderman's 20 11 tax return, which showed his 

"community" income (i.e., earned through trial) to be $743,030. CP 615, 

871. 1 Schneiderman failed to offer any rebuttal to these financial 

documents and, when the court challenged him on this point in the 

hearing, conceded there was no evidence other than his own testimony to 

support his claim that he earned most of his 2011 income after trial. RP 

(09/17/13) 23. The trial court found him not "credible." CP 876. 

Division Two declared the trial judge "misinterpreted" the CPA 

spreadsheet and overvalued the Medicare information, which the appellate 

court saw as having "dubious" value. Slip Op., at~ 50. Division Two 

also credited a piece of evidence (an apparently self-made "Quicken 

Report" of 2011 personal deposits) produced by Schneiderman which the 

trial judge plainly discredited. Slip Op., at~ 51 & 52; CP 871 

(Schneiderman "has not provided any documentation ... "). The appellate 

court ignored the 2011 tax return, where Schneiderman told the IRS he 

had made nearly $750,000 from January to July 2011. 

1 On his tax return, Schneiderman deducts as a "community income allocation" one-half 
his income earned through trial, $371,515 (total= $743,030). CP 615. He predicted in 
trial testimony it would be half that and swore in the CR 60 proceeding it was only 
$356,506, a claim the appellate court endorsed. Slip Op., at~ 52 .. 
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The trial court found Schneiderman's "false and misleading 

assertions" were relied on in setting spousal maintenance and distributing 

the parties' property, undermining the equity ofthe result. CP 871. 

Division Two disagreed, finding instead that neither Rogers nor the 

referee relied on the misrepresentations. Slip Op., at~ 48. The appellate 

court found, instead, that because neither Rogers nor the referee accepted 

Schneiderman's assertions at face value, the misrepresentations had no 

effect. In other words, because Rogers continued to argue Schneiderman's 

income was higher than he was (mis)representing and because the referee 

picked a figure slightly higher than Schneiderman's, there was no 

unfairness or damage to the truth-seeking process. Slip Op., at~ 47. 

The appellate court also disagreed with the trial court's discovery 

sanction, supported by its findings that Schneiderman deliberately failed to 

disclose information, including as to his other business interests, and that 

his "knowing concealment" of this property violated his fiduciary duty. 

Slip Op., at~~ 70-74; CP 874-875. Departing from precedent, again on 

the basis ofthe "highly probable substantial evidence" standard, Division 

Two tasked Rogers for not doing more to overcome Schneiderman's 

intransigence. Slip Op., at~ 72. 

Division Two also reversed the trial court's finding that 

Schneiderman was complicit in the mishandling of trust funds held for the 
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parties by his attorney, about which Rogers learned post-trial by means of 

a WSBA disciplinary action. CP 872; Slip Op., at~ 65. Schneiderman 

failed to deposit funds to the account as ordered (including the 2011 funds 

he failed to disclose) and refused to aid in the effort to discover what 

amount the account should hold, which remains a mystery of consequence 

to Rogers, since she was awarded the funds in the account. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

An appellate court generally defers to a trial court's factual 

findings, regardless of the burden of proof at trial. For example, in a 

recent case involving a "clear and convincing" burden of proof, this Court 

declared "[w]e will uphold the trial court's findings ifthey are supported 

by substantial evidence." In re Dependency ojK.D.S., 176 Wn.2d 644, 

652,294 P.3d 695, 699-700 (2013). However, in this case, Division Two 

departed from this standard, declaring instead that "because the standard 

of proof ... is clear and convincing evidence, the substantial evidence 

must be highly probable." Slip Op., at,. 37. On that basis, the appellate 

court then dismantled the trial court's order. 

As it turns out, there is a pervasive confusion in the Washington 

appellate courts regarding this "highly probable substantial evidence" 

standard. Our appellate courts, including this Court, at times declare the 

standard for review of factual findings to be "substantial evidence" and at 
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other times declare it to be "highly probable substantial evidence." This is 

a conflict within this Court (compare K.D.S., supra, with In reMarriage 

oj"Schweitzer, 132 Wn.2d 318,329,937 P.2d 1062 (1997)) and within and 

between different panels and different divisions of the Court of Appeals. 

Sec Research Appendix and § E.l, below. This widespread conflict 

justifies review under both RAP 13.4(b)(l) and RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

This issue is also one of substantial public import (RAP l3.4(b)(4)) 

because standards of review "balance the power among the courts, 

enhance judicial economy, standardize the appellate process, and give the 

parties in a lawsuit an idea of their chance of success on appeal." Peters, 

The Meaning, Measure, and Misuse oj"Standards of'Review, 13 LEWIS & 

CLARK L. REv. 233,238 (2009). All of these benefits are thwarted by 

the present confused state of the law, as this case demonstrates. This 

Court should accept review to make clear, as has the Vermont Supreme 

Court, that "[i]f the trial court, with substantial evidence before it, 

concludes that this evidence is clear and convincing, we will not upset that 

finding." Lincoln v. Emerson, 137 Vt. 301, 303-304,404 A.2d 508 

( 1979), overruled on other grounds, Contractor's Crane Serv. v. Vt. Whey 

Abatement Auth., 147 Vt. 441,519 A.2d 1166 (1986). 

This case also raises another issue of substantial public import, the 

standard of conduct that applies between spouses as they dissolve their 

7 



marnage. Here, the appellate court accepted that the husband engaged in 

misrepresentation, violated discovery, and was intransigent. Where the 

trial court saw this misconduct as undermining the fairness of the trial, the 

appellate court gave the husband a pass, declaring, essentially, that all is 

fair in dissolution proceedings. Washington law disagrees, holding 

spouses to a duty higher than applies to arms-length business competitors, 

for example. Rather, spouses, even as they divorce, have a fiduciary duty 

to one another, including a duty to disclose, reflecting the special nature of 

marriage and the mutual trust it requires. As a matter of public policy, this 

fiduciary duty encourages the least amount of collateral damage from 

dissolutions, protecting the spouses, but also the extended network of 

relationships constellating around them. Here, the appellate court turns its 

back on this policy, defying precedent and doing injury not only to Rogers 

but also to marriage as an institution. RAP 13 .4(b )(l )(2), and ( 4). 

This case raises additional issues justifying review, including 

whether a discovery sanction is reviewed for clear error, as Division Three 

has held, or whether it is reviewed for "highly probable substantial 

evidence," as Division Two here holds. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Finally, this 

case raises an important issue regarding whether a party found to be 

complicit in the mishandling of trust funds may be held to account, along 
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with his attorney. RAP 13.4(b)(4). For all these reasons, Rogers 

respectfully requests this Court grant review of Division Two's decision. 

1. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR FACTUAL 
FINDINGS SHOULD NOT VARY ACCORDING TO 
THE BURDEN OF PERSUASION AT TRIAL 

Our present standards of review are of relatively modem vintage. 

Peters, supra, at 237-238. As one expert notes, the idea of using standards 

has a long history, "but the articulation of those standards is a fairly recent 

and still not always clear development. " Martha S. Davis, Standards of' 

Review: Judicial Review of'Discretionary Decisionmaking, 2 J. APP. 

PRAC. Be PROCESS 47,47 (2000) (emphasis added). 

Lack of clarity can arise from imprecise or ambiguous definitions 

and from failure by judges to recognize and consistently apply the 

standards. Peters, supra, at 248-258. Imagine a game of"telephone" 

played across several decades of judicial opinions.2 For example, in an 

effort to define a standard, courts may "heap[ ] on qualifiers and 

explanations so that [the standard] becomes more convoluted ... " !d., at 

248. This phenomenon helps to explain the idiosyncratic "highly probable 

substantial evidence" standard that pervades Washington cases. 

2 As the "telephone" metaphor reminds, the shift to electronic research has potential both 
to aid in the clear development of legal standards and to rapidly propagate errors. 
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This confusion appears to start with In re Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 

738, 513 P.2d 831, 832 ( 1973), where the court first declared the burden 

of proof for when the State seeks to terminate a parent's rights to be clear 

and convincing. This means the ultimate fact in issue must be shown at 

trial "to be 'highly probable."' !d., at 739. However, on appeal, the court 

remained "firmly committed to the rule that a trial court's findings of fact 

will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by 'substantial 

evidence."' !d., at 739. But the court went on to say it would inquire "not 

merely whether there is "substantial evidence" to support the trial court's 

ultimate determination of the factual issue but whether there is "substantial 

evidence" to support such findings in light of the "highly probable" test." 

!d., at 739-40. Much mischief has followed this elaboration. 

Shortly after Sego, the standard of review question was expressly 

discussed in some of the cases. For example, one panel noted the 

possibility the Sego court fashioned a new standard of review, but also 

noted the Sego court relied only on cases addressing the burden of proof 

for the fact-finder (not the standard of review). In re We{fare ofKier, 21 

Wn. App. 836, 839 n.l, 587 P.2d 592, 594 (1978). The Kier court rejected 

any new "highly probable" standard of review because Sego endorsed the 

proposition that an appellate court cannot evaluate the credibility or 
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weight of the evidence and that is precisely where the "highly probable" 

standard of review would lead. 

Because we cannot envision any means of applying the 
Sego "high probability test" without inexorably passing 
upon the quality of the evidence, we have chosen to follow 
the traditional substantial evidence quantitative rule as 
clearly supported by the rationale of the [ Sego] opinion. 

!d.; accord, In re We(j'are of Ott, 37 Wn. App. 234, 237 n.2, 679 P.2d 372 

( 1984). 

Subsequently, Judge Morgan of Division Two noted the "highly 

probable" test had "caused confusion." In re Dependency ofC.B., 61 Wn. 

App. 280, 284, 810 P.2d 518 (1991 ). He said the confusion from 

conflating the burdens of persuasion and production and attempted to 

reconcile the language in Sego by noting that the burdens work in tandem. 

!d., at 282-283 and 285-286. In Division One, Judge Kennedy endorsed 

this analysis, explaining as follows: 

Like all evidentiary standards, the clear, cogent and 
convincing burden of proof contains two elements: ( 1) the 
amount of evidence that is prerequisite to submitting the 
question to the trier of fact (often referred to as the burden 
of production )--which only need be met by substantial 
evidence; (2) the burden of persuasion--the trier of fact (not 
the appellate court) must be persuaded that the fact in 
issue is "highly probable." (Citations omitted.) 

Colonial Imps. v. Carlton N. W., 83 Wn. App. 229, 239, 921 P.2d 575, 

579-80 ( 1996) (emphasis added). Judge Kennedy concluded, regardless of 
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the burden of persuasion, "[t]he appellate function should, and does, begin 

and end with ascertaining whether or not there is substantial evidence 

supporting the facts as found." !d., at 238. 

Nevertheless, absent resolution from this Court, the matter remains 

unsettled, with numerous decisions using one standard and numerous 

others using a different standard. See Research Appendix. Washington 

commentators echo this confusion. For example, the WASHINGTON 

APPELLATE DEsKsooK in one place declares the standard for review of 

factual findings to be substantial evidence, then, in another place, 

mentions the highly probable substantial evidence test, but without any 

analysis or context. Compare§ 18.4 with§ 18.7(10). In WASHINGTON 

PRACTICE, the author notes that where the trial court applies a clear and 

convincing burden of proof, "[t ]he case law ... reflects considerable 

ambivalence about the proper standard of review." Tegland, 5 WA. 

PRACT., Evidence Law and Practice 301.3 (5th Ed.). Elsewhere, the 

author notes the "long-standing debate" over what Sego means. Weber, 

21 WA. PRACT ., Family and Community Prop. L. §§ 51.29 and 51.30. 

Other states have debated this issue, perhaps originally California, 

when Justice Traynor, in dissent, argued in favor of an elevated standard 

of review where the burden of proof is not preponderance of the evidence. 

Stromerson v. Averill, 22 Cal. 2d 808,817-181, 141 P.2d 732 (1943). 
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The Vermont court, in a case contemporaneous to Sego, alluded to 

the debate on its way to adhering to the "substantial evidence" standard. 

Lincoln v. Emerson, supra, 137 Vt. at 303-304. As did Judge Morgan, the 

Vermont court noted the importance of harmonizing the standard across 

the burdens of proof, from preponderance to beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Jd., at 304. For example, in a criminal context, neither a trial court nor an 

appellate court can set aside a jury verdict just because it "may conclude 

the evidence is not convincing, or may find the evidence hard to reconcile 

in some of its aspects, or may think some evidence appears to refute or 

negative guilt, or to cast doubt thereon, ... " State v. Randecker, 79 Wn.2d 

512,517-18,487P.2d 1295, 1299(1971). Inotherwords,"itis 

unnecessary for the court to be satisfied of the defendant's guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt." Jd. Rather, the reviewing court "is only empowered to 

determine whether there is 'substantial evidence' tending to establish 

circumstances on which a necessary element of a crime may be 

predicated." Randecker, 79 Wn.2d at 517. 

Basically, this boils down to a question about who is the fact

finder. If it is the trial court, then appellate review is limited to asking 

whether there exists "a sufficient quantum of evidence in the record to 

persuade a reasonable person [i.e., the trial judge] that a finding offact is 

true." Pardee v. Jol~v. 163 Wn.2d 558, 569, 182 P.3d 967, 972 (2008). 
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The question is not whether the appellate court would find the facts as did 

the trial court; rather, "[i]f substantial evidence supports a finding of fact, 

an appellate court should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial 

court." Jd. ("Court of Appeals erred in reversing the trial court's fmding 

of fact"). Again, this restraint on the appellate court serves many 

purposes, including avoiding many "useless appeals," because counsel can 

accurately advise their clients that the appellate court does not retry the 

facts ofthe case. WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE OESKBOOK, 

Standard o_fReview § 18.4. The "highly probable substantial evidence" 

standard defeats those purposes. This Court can and should clarify that 

the standard for appellate review of trial court factual findings is 

substantial evidence, regardless of the burden of persuasion. 

2. ANY REVIEW OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL 
FINDINGS SHOULD NOT INVOLVE APPELLATE 
FACT -FINDING, AS OCCURRED HERE. 

This case illustrates too well how this elevated standard of review 

leads to appellate fact- finding, as predicted by the Arizona court. "If an 

appellate court were to apply different standards of review depending on 

the burden of proof required for the particular proceeding, it would be 

substituting its resolution of factual issues for that ofthe trier of fact." 

Denise R. v. Ariz. Dep't o_jEcon. Sec., 221 Ariz. 92, 93,210 P.3d 1263, 

1264 (Ct. App. 2009). This is precisely what happened here, over and 
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over again. Upon declaring the standard of review to require "highly 

probable substantial evidence," Division Two repeatedly substituted its 

own view ofthe facts for those of the trial judge, a flagrant exercise in 

appellate fact-finding, as discussed above and below. 

Not only is this reweighing of the evidence by the appellate court 

here improper, it is often just plain wrong. For example, Division Two 

states Rogers made one motion to compel when she made two; states the 

Medicare information is of"dubious value" because it describes 2012 

reimbursements, when it actually includes 2011 data as well; states there 

was a sum certain in the trust account at trial (~ 11) when, actually, the

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