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

around Schneiderman's income, and without hearing any testimony, 

a newly elected judge granted Rogers' motion and vacated the 

parties' dissolution decree, more than two years after its entry. 

Rogers now seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished 

decision reversing that order and reinstating the decree. 

C. Grounds for Denying Review. 

Rogers presents no meritorious reasons for review under RAP 

13.4(b). Vacation of a decree under CR 6o is an extraordinary 

remedy and the Court of Appeals correctly held the trial court erred 

in concluding Rogers had met CR 6o's high threshold for relief. More 

than six years after the parties' separation and four years after a 

dissolution trial that exhaustively addressed all of the issues Rogers 

once again raises here, it is time for the parties' divorce to be final. 

This Court should deny review. 

t. Findings made Wlder the clear and convincing 
standard of proof are reviewed for substantial 
evidence that is highly probable. 

Washington decisions uniformly hold that where a trial court 

makes findings under the clear and convincing standard of proof, 

requiring a party to prove it is "highly probable" a fact is true, an 

appellate court's task is to review the findings for substantial 
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evidence in light of the highly probable test. Rogers' argument to the 

contrary boils down to an assertion that trial court findings are 

immune from review no matter how devoid of evidentiary support. 

But this Court has long required that findings be supported by 

substantial evidence. See, e.g., Worthington v. Worthington, 73 

Wn.2d 759, 765, 440 P .2d 478 (1968) ("The trial court's findings are 

determinative of the factual issues involved only when there is 

evidence in the record to sustain them."). This Court should deny 

review because no conflict exists under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). 

"Appellate review of a trial court's findings of fact is generally 

limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the 

findings." Marriage of Schweitzer, 132 Wn.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 

1062 (1997). "However, substantial evidence must be 'highly 

probable' where the standard of proof in the trial court is clear, 

cogent, and convincing evidence." Schweitzer, 132 Wn.2d at 329 

(citing Detention of LaBelle, 107 Wn.2d 196, 209, 728 P.2d 138 

(1986)).3 Thus, appellate courts still defer to trial courts by reviewing 

3 See also Welfare of Hall, 99 Wn.2d 842, 849, 664 P.2d 1245 
(1983); Welfare of Ferguson, 41 Wn. App. 1, 4, 701 P.2d 513, rev. denied, 
104 Wn.2d 1008 (1985); Dependenc:y ofC.T., 59 Wn. App. 490,496, 798 
P.2d 1170 (1990), rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1015 (1991); Dependency of AA., 
105 Wn. App. 604, 607, 20 P.3d 492 (2001); Dalton v. State, 130 Wn. App. 
653, 666, ~ 28, 124 P.3d 305 (2005), rev. denied, 158 Wn.2d 1003 (2006). 
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for substantial evidence, but do so "in light of the 'highly probable' 

test." Matter of Interest of Pawling, 101 Wn.2d 392, 399, 679 P.2d 

916 (1984); In re Sego, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973) ("We 

are firmly committed to the rule that a trial court's findings of fact 

will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by 'substantial 

evidence."'). 

As a matter oflogic and common sense, the standard of review 

must incorporate the standard of proof below. The premise of any 

finding is that the evidence established it under the applicable 

standard of proof. Thus, "evidence that may be sufficiently 

'substantial' to support an ultimate fact in issue based upon a 

'preponderance of the evidence' may not be sufficient to support an 

ultimate fact in issue, proof of which must be established by clear, 

cogent and convincing evidence." Sego, 82 Wn.2d at 739.4 Criminal 

4 See also In re C.H., 89 S.W.3d 17, 25 (Tex. 2002) ("As a matter of 
logic, a finding that must be based on clear and convincing evidence cannot 
be viewed on appeal the same as one that may be sustained on a mere 
preponderance"); Denise R. v. Arizona Dep't of Econ. Sec., 221 Ariz. 92, 
210 P.3d 1263, 1265 (Ct. App. 2009) (Petition 14) (''because the requisite 
standard of proof is inherent in a court's finding, [review] requires us to 
consider whether a reasonable person would have reached the same 
conclusion when bound by the same evidentiary standard that constrained 
the court"); Pearson v. Koster, 367 S.W.3d 36, 43 (Mo. 2012) (a "reviewing 
court cannot review the judgment of a trial court properly under a given 
standard of review without considering the burden of proof governing the 
trial court"). 
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cases confirm that the standard of review must incorporate the 

relevant standard of proof: "[t]he test for determining the sufficiency 

of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 

201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (emphasis added); State v. Budik, 173 

Wn.2d 727, 733, ~ 11,272 P.3d 816 (2012) (same). 

This Court did not hold, as Rogers asserts, that the standard 

of proof is irrelevant to the standard of review in Dependency of 

K.D.S., 176 Wn.2d 644, 294 P.3d 695 (2013) (Petition 6). That case 

contained a single sentence on the standard for reviewing factual 

findings, which made the unremarkable statement that a reviewing 

court "will uphold the trial court's findings if they are supported by 

substantial evidence." 176 Wn.2d at 652, ~ 16.s Had this Court 

intended to overrule decades of precedent it would have done so 

clearly and expressly, not silently in a single passing sentence. 

Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Found., Inc., 170 Wn.2d 380, 388, ~ 18, 

241 P.3d 1256 (2010) ("We will not overrule ... binding precedent 

s The case K.D.S. cites for this proposition incorporates the clear 
and convincing standard into the standard of review. See Aschauer's 
Welfare, 93 Wn.2d 689, 695, 611 P.2d 1245 (1980) (appellate court reviews 
for "substantial evidence which the lower court could reasonably have 
found to be clear, cogent and convincing"). 
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sub silentio."); In re Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 6oo, ,-r 22, 316 P.3d 

1007 (2014) ("Where the literal words of a court opinion appear to 

control an issue, but where the court did not in fact address or 

consider the issue, the ruling is not dispositive"). 

None of the Court of Appeals decisions cited by Rogers 

demonstrate a conflict. Though Division One did express concern 

about the interplay between the standard of proof and standard of 

review 35 years ago6, any "conflict" was resolved nearly 30 years ago 

when Division One recognized that whether substantial evidence 

exists must be judged "in light of the degree of proof required." 

Estate of Eubank, so Wn. App. 611, 618, 749 P.2d 691 (1988) 

(reviewing in light of "highly probable" standard); see also State v. 

Saint-Louis, 188 Wn. App. 905, 914, ,-r 22, 355 P.3d 345 (2015) 

(same); Colonial Imports v. Carlton Nw., Inc., 83 Wn. App. 229, 

232, 921 P.2d 575 (1996) (affirming because there was "substantial 

evidence that the dispositive fact is highly probable") (Petition 11). 

Rogers overlooks these cases in arguing "the matter remains 

unsettled." (Petition 12) 

6 Welfare of Kier, 21 Wn. App. 836, 839 n.1, 587 P.2d 592 (1978) 
(Petition 10); San .Juan Cnty. v. Ayer, 24 Wn. App. 852, 859-60, 604 P.2d 
1304 (1979). 
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Likewise, Dependency ofC.B., 61 Wn. App. 280,285-86, 810 

P.2d 518 (1991) (Petition n) held that substantial evidence "var[ies] 

in accordance with the burden of persuasion," and reviewed findings 

for "evidence from which a rational trier of fact could find the 

necessary facts by clear, cogent and convincing evidence." Indeed, 

Rogers' "research appendix" confirms that Washington law is well 

settled and has been for decades. Excepting the early Division One 

cases, every other case in her appendix reviewed findings in light of 

the highly probable standard.7 

This Court's established rule requiring appellate courts to 

review findings in light of the relevant standard of proof does not 

encourage "appellate fact-finding," as Rogers argues. (Petition 14-

15) Appellate courts still give trial court findings deference, 

particularly where the trial court heard live testimony and actually 

presided over the proceedings involving the alleged misconduct. s 

But appellate courts can and should reverse in unusual cases such as 

7 Rogers' reliance on Vermont law is misplaced. (Petition 13) Under 
Vermont law, where the clear and convincing standard applies at trial, on 
appeal the court determines "whether the factfinder could reasonably have 
concluded that the required factual predicate was highly probable." In re 
N.H., 168 Vt. 508, 724 A.2d 467, 470 (1998). 

8 If this Court accepts review, Schneiderman reserves the right to 
argue that the proper standard of review was de novo because the trial court 
did not hear testimony, had not presided over the trial, and relied on a 
documentary record. (See App. Br. 16-18) 
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this one, where the trial court granted the extraordinary remedy of 

vacating a decree after finding Schneiderman "misrepresented" his 

income, and that Rogers relied on that "misrepresentation," despite 

undisputed evidence Schneiderman disclosed his entire income and 

that Rogers was aware of that income. The Court of Appeals correctly 

adhered to this Court's established precedent in holding that 

"because the standard of proof ... is clear and convincing evidence, 

the substantial evidence must be highly probable." (Op. *6) This 

Court should deny review. 

2. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent 
with the fiduciary duty of spouses, as well as 
the finality of decrees. 

Rogers is equally mistaken in arguing that this Court should 

accept review because the Court of Appeals ignored the fiduciary 

duty between spouses. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized 

that Schneiderman repeatedly disclosed the existence of all his 

income, which is all that duty required. No "duty" precluded 

Schneiderman from disputing Rogers' predictions of his future 

income. Indeed, if a dispute about a spouse's future income warrants 

vacation of a decree, then virtually any decree could be vacated after 

post-trial events disprove a prediction of income. The Court of 
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Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington law and there is no 

reason for this Court to review it. 

Parties to a dissolution have a duty to disclose all property, so 

that the court may divide the marital estate. See Marriage of Burkey, 

36 Wn. App. 487,490, 675 P.2d 619 (1984) (Petition 17-18). A party 

violates this duty by failing to disclose the existence of an asset, not 

by disputing the value of an asset, or, as here, an income source. See 

Marriage of Curtis, 106 Wn. App. 191, 197, 23 P.3d 13 (refusing to 

vacate settlement where wife did "not claim that she was unaware of 

Dr. Curtis's medical practice, only that it was not properly valued"), 

rev. denied, 145 Wn.2d 1008 (2001);Marriage of Cohn, 18 Wn. App. 

502, 508, 569 P .2d 79 (1977) (refu••;ing to vacate decree because 

although the wife "might not have known of the exact financial status 

of [the husband's] resources, circumstances were such that she 

reasonably should have had such knowledge"). 

Burkey, on which Rogers relies (Petition 17-18), exemplifies 

this distinction. There the trial court vacated a dissolution decree 

after concluding that the husband "breached a fiduciary duty to make 

known to his wife the value of all of the property before the 

dissolution." Burkey, 36 Wn. App. at 488. Division Three reversed 

because "all of the parties' property was made known to each other," 
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36 Wn. App. at 489, distinguishing Seals v. Seals} 22 Wn. App. 652, 

590 P.2d 1301 (1979) (Petition 16), where the husband failed to 

disclose "the existence of certain property." Burkey) 36 Wn. App. at 

490 (emphasis in original); see also Marriage of Lutz, 74 Wn. App. 

356, 369, 873 P.2d 566 (1994) (spouse attempted to "hide the 

property," not dispute its value) (Petition 16).9 Here, as in Burkey, 

Schneiderman did not conceal or dispute the existence of any part of 

his income, including his quarterly distributions, as the Court of 

Appeals recognized and undisputed evidence established. 

The Court of Appeals correctly refused to uphold vacation of 

the decree based on the parties' dispute about what Schneiderman 

would earn in the future. As the referee recognized, "[t]he dilemma 

always is to figure out what is future income." ( Op * 4) 10 If inaccurate 

predictions regarding future mcome established 

"misrepresentation" allowing vacation of a decree, they would never 

be final. See Marriage of Knutson, 114 Wn. App. 866, 872-73, 60 

9 The other cases cited by Rogers involved a trust or power of 
attorney creating a heightened fiduciary duty for one spouse. See Estate of 
Haviland, 162 Wn. App. 548, 255 P.3d 854 (2011); Bryant v. Bryant, 125 
Wn.2d 113, 882 P.2d 169 (1994) (Petition 17). 

10 This "dilemma" can often be addressed by modifying a 
maintenance award under RCW 26.09.170. But in this case the parties 
stipulated that maintenance would be non-modifiable. (CP 77) Rogers is 
not entitled to vacation of the decree based on any regret that she made that 
agreement. 
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P.3d 681 (2003) (reversing order vacating decree because 401k plan 

lost value after trial; court cannot vacate decree "with every change 

in the plan's value");Adams v. King Cnty., 164 Wn.2d 640,662,1146, 

192 P.3d 891 (2008) (fraudulent statement must be a 

"representation of an existing fact') (emphasis added). This Court 

has long recognized the importance of finality in decrees. Marriage 

of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809, 699 P.2d 214 (1985) ("The 

emotional and financial interests affected by such decisions are best 

served by finality."). The Court of Appeals decision respects that 

finality and the fiduciary duty of spouses. This Court should deny 

review. 

3· The Court of Appeals correctly reinstated the 
decree because any purported discovery 
violations did not prejudice Rogers' ability to 
prepare for trial. 

Because Rogers undisputedly knew what Schneiderman 

earned before trial, she was fully able to prepare for trial and the 

Court of Appeals correctly refused to uphold vacation of the decree 

based on alleged discovery violations. 11 As Rogers concedes, 

11 Schneiderman disagrees with the Court of Appeals' conclusion 
that he violated any discovery duties (App. Br. 37-39; Reply Br. 15-18), but 
that conclusion is ultimately irrelevant as the Court of Appeals correctly 
ruled that Rogers was not prejudiced by the alleged violations. Should this 
Court accept review, Schneiderman reserves the right to challenge the 
assertion he violated discovery obligations. 

16 



discovery violations must prejudice the moving party's ability to 

prepare for trial to justify vacation of a judgment. (Petition 18) See 

also Peoples State Bank v. Hickey, 55 Wn. App. 367, 372, 777 P.2d 

1056 ("the conduct must be such that the losing party was prevented 

from fully and fairly presenting its case or defense."), rev. denied, 113 

Wn.2d 1029 (1989); Tegland, 4 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice CR 6o § 

8, at 613 (6th ed. 2013) ("Fraud or misconduct that is harmless will 

not support a motion to vacate.").l2 

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Rogers' argument that 

Schneiderman prevented her from knowing his true income.13 As the 

Court of Appeals recognized, based on tax returns Schneiderman 

produced, Rogers knew exactly how much he earned, and she 

emphasized his "true earnings" of" $1 million per year" to the referee 

in asking for $25,000 monthly maintenance. (CP 2771; see also CP 

581 (referee: "I have never actually seen so much information 

12 The Court of Appeals did not "contlate" the tests for relief under 
CR 6o and CR 37. (Petition 18) The Court of Appeals correctly recognized 
that a willful discovery violation is a type of "misconduct" under CR 
6o(b)(4) and thus the decision whether to vacate a judgment is controlled 
by CR 6o. (Op. *12 & n.n) 

13 The Court of Appeals correctly applied the abuse of discretion 
standard of review to the trial court's discovery sanctions decision, contrary 
to Rogers' claim. (Compare Op. *14 with Petition 18) 

17 



poured into a professional practice.")) See also Stoulil v. Edwin A. 

Epstein, Jr., Operating Co., 101 Wn. App. 294, 299, 3 P.3d 764 

(2000) (refusing to vacate judgment because nonmoving parties 

"produced their income tax returns for the years relevant to this case 

early in the trial"); Nansamba v. N. Shore Med. Ctr., Inc., 727 F.3d 

33, 41 (1st Cir. 2013) ("regardless of what defense counsel may or 

may not have done, the plaintiff had at her fingertips the records that 

would have laid bare what she now asserts to be the true facts"). 

Rogers has never explained - in the trial court, the Court of Appeals, 

or this Court - how she was prejudiced in her ability to prepare for 

trial when she knew exactly how much Schneiderman earned. This 

Court should deny review. 

4· Schneiderman cannot be punished for his 
attorney's unauthorized mishandling of funds. 

Rogers cites no authority allowing Schneiderman to be held 

responsible for the misconduct of his former attorney James 

Province, undertaken without his knowledge, let alone authorization.

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